IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN THE MATTER OF SEARCH WARRANTS REGARDING SEIZURE OF DOCUMENTS, LAPTOP COMPUTERS, CELLULAR TELEPHONES, AND OTHER DIGITAL STORAGE DEVICES FROM THE PREMISES OF LAS VEGAS BISTRO, LLC AND LITTLE DARLINGS OF LAS VEGAS, LLC

LAS VEGAS BISTRO, LLC D/B/A LARRY FLYNT'S HUSTLER CLUB; AND LITTLE DARLINGS OF LAS VEGAS, LLC, Appellants, vs. LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT, Respondent. Supreme Court Case No.: 84931-COA Electronically Filed Oct 05 2022 05:09 p.m. [District Coeffication A: Brown A-22-85107Glerk of Supreme Court

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has appellate jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1), where the instant appeal arises from a final judgment entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment was rendered.

LV Bistro and LDLV, whose businesses were raided by Respondent, Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department ("LVMPD"), appeal from the final order of the Eighth Judicial District Court, the Honorable Jerry A. Wiese II presiding (the "district court"), entered on May 22, 2022 and noticed on May 24, 2022, which order denied Appellants' request to: (1) unseal search warrant applications and supporting affidavits, (2) quash search warrants, and (3) return all seized property. The order resolved all matters pertaining to Appellants' motion made pursuant to NRS 179.085, which was properly treated by the district court as a civil complaint for equitable relief. (Appellants' Appendix ("AA") AA000147 – AA000160).

Pursuant to NRAP 4(a)(1), "a notice of appeal must be filed after entry of a written judgment or order, and no later than 30 days after the date that written notice of entry of the judgment or order appealed from is served." On June 23, 2022, Appellants timely filed their Notices of Appeal of the district court's final order. (AA000163 – AA000182).

ROUTING STATEMENT

On July 7, 2022, the Supreme Court issued a Notice of Transfer to Court of Appeals, pursuant to NRAP 17(b). The transfer came the same day the settlement judge recommended the matter be removed from the settlement program, and the Supreme Court entered a corresponding order of removal and reinstatement of briefing, which set the date for Appellants' opening brief and appendix in 90 days.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The instant appeal presents the following ultimate issue for this Court's consideration:

1) Whether the district court erred in finding probable cause to believe the crimes of Advancing Prostitution (NRS 201.395) and Living from Earnings of Prostitution (NRS 201.320) were committed by Appellants where an essential element of each crime is the act of Prostitution, which is specifically defined in statute as "engaging in sexual conduct with another person in return for a fee, monetary consideration or other thing of value" (NRS 201.295(5)), and LVMPD's Search Warrants and Search Warrant Affidavits in question reference acts involving undercover police officers only and, thus, by definition cannot include the element of Prostitution?

If the Court is not inclined to address the ultimate issue of the district court's error in not granting Appellants' requested equitable relief, where LVMPD could not and did not show probable cause to survive the challenge to the Search Warrants and Search Warrant Affidavits, then Appellants respectfully submit the following itemized issues presented in the instant appeal:

1) Whether the district court erred in denying Appellants' request to unseal the Application and Affidavit of Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department ("LVMPD") Detective R. Chavez, P#7758 ("Hustler Club Application and

Supporting Affidavit") submitted in support of the Search Warrant issued April 1, 2022 in the matter of 6007 Dean Martin Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89118 by the Honorable Harmony Letizia, Justice of the Peace for the Las Vegas Township Justice Court ("Hustler Club Search Warrant"), authorizing the search by law enforcement officers of the business known as Larry Flynt's Hustler Club and further authorizing seizure of, among other items, business documents and electronic storage devices, inclusive of computers, cellular phones, and tablets (the "Property"), which Search Warrant Application and Supporting Affidavit was sealed by Judge Letizia pending further order of the court?

2) Whether the district court erred in denying Appellants' request to unseal the Application and Affidavit of LVMPD Detective R. Chavez, P#7758 submitted in support of the Search Warrant for Digital Storage Device issued on April 7, 2022 by the Honorable Joseph S. Sciscento, Justice of the Peace for the Las Vegas Township Justice Court ("Hustler Club Digital Search Warrant"), authorizing the search by law enforcement officers of the Property seized from Hustler Club, which Search Warrant Application and Supporting Affidavit was sealed by Judge Sciscento pending further order of the court?

3) Whether the district court erred in denying Appellants' request to unseal the Application and Affidavit of LVMPD Detective R. Chavez, P#7758 ("Little Darlings Application and Supporting Affidavit") submitted in support of

the Search Warrant issued on April 1, 2022 in the matter of 1514 Western Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada 89102, by the Honorable Harmony Letizia, Justice of the Peace for the Las Vegas Township Justice Court ("Little Darlings Search Warrant"), authorizing a search by law enforcement officers of the business known as Little Darlings and further authorizing seizure of, among other items, business documents and electronic storage devices, inclusive of computers, cellular phones and tablets (the "Property"), which Search Warrant Application and Supporting Affidavit was sealed by Judge Letizia pending further order of the court?

4) Whether the district court erred in denying Appellants' request to unseal the Application and Affidavit of LVMPD Detective A. Carreon, P#9025 submitted in support of the Search Warrant for Digital Storage Device issued on April 7, 2022 by the Honorable Joseph S. Sciscento, Justice of the Peace for the Las Vegas Township Justice Court ("Little Darlings Digital Search Warrant"), authorizing the search by law enforcement officers of the Property seized from Little Darlings, which Search Warrant Application and Supporting Affidavit was sealed by Judge Sciscento pending further order of the court?

5) Whether the district court erred in denying Appellants' request to review and evaluate the representations contained in each Application and Supporting Affidavit for the Search Warrant and Digital Search Warrant served at each business location, and to permit the submission of supplemental briefing in

support of their complaint for equitable relief with the benefit of such review, specifically regarding Appellants' contention that all Search Warrants and Search Warrant Affidavits in question are facially deficient under Nevada law and the representations contained therein fail to establish probable cause to support the seizure of Appellants' Property and subsequent imaging and forensic examination?

6) Whether the district court erred in denying Appellants' request to quash all Search Warrants in question, where probable cause to search each business location of Appellants, to seize Appellants' Property, and to image and search the contents of Appellants' Property, cannot exist because the Search Warrants and Search Warrant Affidavits referencing acts involving undercover police officers only cannot include the element of Prostitution?

7) Whether the district court erred in denying Appellants' request for the return of each Appellant's Property prior to its presentation to any judicial officer, grand jury, or other entity or person whomsoever, for any purpose whatsoever?

8) Whether the district court erred in denying Appellants' request to prohibit LVMPD, and any person acting on its behalf, from reviewing each Appellant's Property, which contains privileged materials protected by the attorney-client, work product and accountant-client privileges, and to permit Appellants the opportunity to review the Property and prepare appropriate privilege logs for subsequent review *in camera* by the Court or special master to

ensure that the privileges are preserved pursuant to NRS 179.105 and NRS 179.11518?

I.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants maintain that the district court erred as a matter of law when it denied their motion, treated as a civil complaint for equitable relief pursuant to NRS 179.085, which sought to unseal LVMP's search warrant applications and supporting affidavits, quash LVMPD's search warrants, and return property seized following execution of LVMPD's search warrants, inclusive of Appellants documents and electronic devices containing attorney-client, work product, and accountant-client privileged information.

LVMPD based its search warrants on an investigation into the purported crimes of Living from Earnings of a Prostitute (NRS 201.320) and Advancing Prostitution (NRS 201.395). Each crime requires as an essential element the act of prostitution. Prostitution is specifically defined in statute as "engaging in sexual conduct with another person in return for a fee, monetary consideration or other thing of value." *See* NRS 201.295(5). Where interactions between Appellants' independent contractors and undercover police officers form the basis for the search warrants in question, however, there is no possibility of a probable cause showing of the act of prostitution. To the extent there was evidence of solicitation for prostitution, the inchoate crime of offering or agreeing to commit the crime of prostitution, this is not the same as the act of prostitution. *See Ford v. State*, 127

Nev. 608, 619, 262 P.3d 1123, 1130 (2011). Thus, in addition to the obvious missing element for the crimes actually being investigated, probable cause if any to investigate solicitation of prostitution could only extend to Appellants' independent contractors with whom the undercover officers engaged. Under no circumstances in the instant appeal could the district court have properly found probable cause for any crimes involving Appellants.

Appellants have never been afforded the opportunity to review the full set of records in question, but to the extent they depict undercover police officers engaging with female dancers concerning payment for services, regardless of the nature of those services no legal basis exists for the search warrants and search warrant affidavits to remain sealed and in effect or for LVMPD to retain any of Appellants' seized property or the digital contents imaged therefrom.

A second and equally compelling basis to grant the instant appeal, and thereafter remand the matter for further orders to return Appellants' property and its contents, exists where the evidence obtained from Appellants' electronic devices during LVMPD's improper investigation contains attorney-client, work product and accountant-client privileged information. Should the Court grant Appellants relief based on a finding the district court lacked probable cause, then the additional protections Appellants seek to maintain their privileges are moot. If the Court is not inclined to grant Appellants' appeal in its entirety, then Appellants request the appropriate opportunity to seek all legal protections prior to LVMPD's review of any seized and imaged documents.

II.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

On January 26, 2022 and March 12, 2022, LVMPD sent correspondence to the LV Bistro purportedly providing notice that one or more entertainers, who LVMPD declined to identify and incorrectly referenced as employees of the Hustler Club¹, had solicited an undercover police detective for sexual acts on the premises. (AA000034 – AA00037). As advised by LVMPD and required pursuant to NRS 201.395, LV Bistro responded in writing to LVMPD Detective R. Sioson on February 1, 2022, and LVMPD Detective R. Chavez on March 15, 2022, asking for identification of the entertainers at issue, affirming its zero-tolerance policy regarding illegal sexual conduct, and outlining its extensive efforts to ensure that no acts of solicitation of prostitution occurred on its premises. (AA000039 -In its correspondence, LV Bistro further invited guidance from AA000044). LVMPD regarding additional actions, policies and procedures it could implement to address the issue and ensure compliance with NRS 201.395(3). See id. No further response was provided by LVMPD.

¹ The dancers/entertainers who perform at the Hustler Club and Little Darlings are independent contractors, not employees, of the respective businesses.

Similarly, on January 8, 2022 and March 12, 2022, LDLV received correspondence from LVMPD regarding alleged prostitution activity by one or more of its unidentified independent contractor entertainers. Like LV Bistro, LDLV responded to Detective Chavez, via email on January 11, 2022, and March 14, 2022, detailing its efforts to ensure that no such conduct occurred on its premises, and inviting further input from LVMPD. (AA000046 – AA000049). And again, LDLV received no further communication from LVMPD.

On April 5, 2022, members of LVMPD's Special Investigations Section executed a search of the business premises of LV Bistro and LDLV, as well as premises leased through LV Bistro to another entity, Go Best, LLC. (AA000014 – AA000019 and AA000024 – AA000030). Upon arrival, detectives gathered the employees of each respective business and seized the personal cellular telephones of the persons who identified themselves as management employees of each club. (AA000021 – AA000022 and AA000032). Police officers took three (3) cellular telephones from managers of LV Bistro's business and one (1) cellular telephone from a manager at LDLV's business. These phones were not the property of either business and instead were purchased by and solely belonged to the individuals from whom they were seized for their personal and business use.

Among other items, LVMPD also removed multiple computers from the premises of each business. At LV Bistro's premises, detectives seized three (3) laptop computers and two (2) iPads. (AA000021 – AA000022). At LDLV's premises, detectives removed four (4) computers and three (3) tablets. (AA000032). Detectives also seized computer servers, digital video recorders, thumb drives and mountains of documents from both businesses. (AA000021 – AA000022 and AA000032). During the raid at LV Bistro's premises specifically, LVMPD's digital forensics team worked in collaboration with detectives on scene and advised LV Bistro's counsel that they could, and in fact did at the time, create mirror images of some of the devices using the mobile forensics unit parked on site.

The property seized from Appellants' respective businesses further contains documents and communications that are privileged pursuant to the attorney-client privilege and work product doctrine (NRS 49.095) and the accountant-client privilege (NRS 49.185). Appellants by way of their de facto civil complaint for equitable relief filed on April 12, 2022, sought to protect all privileged information contained within the property seized by LVMPD, inclusive of the personal cellular telephones of the managers, in the event the search warrants were not quashed. (AA000001 – AA000049).

The district court properly treated Appellants' request for relief regarding the search warrants, where no criminal case is pending, as a civil complaint seeking equitable relief pursuant to NRS 179.085 and, in so doing, recognized that all forms of equitable relief sought by Appellants were available for review. (AA000157 at lines 3 - 5). The district court erred thereafter by finding probable cause existed for their issuance, as well as that good cause existed for the sealing of the warrants, so as not to "compromise the ability of the Metropolitan Police Department....further investigate the crimes alleged to have been committed, and any ongoing crimes allegedly being committed, relating to this investigation." (AA000157 at lines 7 - 14). The district court took oral argument but ultimately misapplied the law regarding the necessary element of the crime of prostitution and the objective absence of any evidence thereof in the instant case, which by definition precludes LVMPD's investigation and retention of Appellants' seized property. (AA000158 at lines 5 - 11).

III.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

To carry out broad searches of Appellants' business premises, which are presumptively protected by the First Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 18, of the Constitution of the State of Nevada, LVMPD sought the issuance of search warrants without probable cause and, once issued, seized a variety of documents and digital storage devices including computers, cell phones, and tablets, which contain privileged information and communications of which little if any relates to the subject matter of the search warrants even where probable cause could be found. The clear case law applicable in these matters permits the Court then, in the proper exercise of its discretion, to immediately protect Appellants' interests by granting the instant appeal and remanding the matter to the district court for all search warrants to be quashed, or, at minimum, for LVMPD to return all seized property pending further review of the search warrant applications and supporting affidavits by the district court, after unsealing the same for purposes of further probable cause and privilege review.

IV.

ARGUMENT

A. <u>Standard of Review.</u>

Questions of statutory construction, including the meaning and scope of a statute, are questions of law that this Court will review de novo. *City of Reno v. Reno Gazette-Journal*, 119 Nev. 55, 58, 63 P.3d 1147, 1148 (2003).

B. <u>The District Court Clearly Erred By Denying Appellants' Motion</u> to Quash and for Other Relief.

1. The Search Warrants Should Have Been Quashed.

NRS 179.085(1) provides that a "person aggrieved by an unlawful search and seizure or the deprivation of property may move the court having jurisdiction where the property was seized for the return of the property on the ground that: . . . (b) the warrant is insufficient on its face; (c) there was not probable cause for believing the existence of the grounds on which the warrant was issued; (d) the warrant was illegally executed; or (e) retention of the property by law enforcement is not reasonable under the totality of the circumstances." Upon such showing pursuant to paragraphs (b) – (d), the property must be restored and deemed inadmissible at any hearing or trial. NRS 179.085(2). If the motion is granted on the ground set forth in paragraph (e), the property must be returned, but the Court may set reasonable conditions to protect future access. NRS 179.085(3). Similarly, NRS 179.105 provides, "[i]f it appears that the property taken is not the same as that described in the warrant, [or] that there is no probable cause for believing the existence of the grounds on which the warrant was issued ... [it] shall ... be restored to the person from whom it was taken."

In the briefing below, LVMPD admits it is investigating the crimes of Living from Earnings of a Prostitute (NRS 201.320) and Advancing Prostitution (NRS 201.395), each of which require as an essential element the act of prostitution, which is defined in statute as "engaging in sexual conduct with another person in return for a fee, monetary consideration or other thing of value." *See* NRS 201.295(5). LVMPD could not have asserted the act of prostitution in support of its search warrants, where undercover police officers were involved and at most could only have witnessed solicitation of prostitution by Appellants' independent contractors. Accordingly, Appellants respectfully submit that the search warrants and search warrants affidavits in question must necessarily be

devoid of sufficient facts and circumstances to establish probable cause to justify the seizure of Appellants' property, and absent such mandatory support, the district court erred in denying Appellants' request that the search warrants be quashed.

2. The Search Warrant Affidavits Should Have Been Unsealed.

Further, the district court erred in overlooking the good cause reasons to unseal the search warrants and search warrant affidavits. Under Nevada law, search and seizure protections are embodied in Article 1, Section 18 of the Nevada Constitution and NRS 179.045(4), which sets forth that "upon a showing of good cause, [a judge or] magistrate may order [such] an affidavit ... to be sealed. [And that likewise,] [u]pon a showing of good cause, a court may cause the affidavit ... to be unsealed." The gravamen of LVMPD's investigation is the alleged solicitation of prostitution at Appellants' businesses in January and March of this year and Appellants' responses thereto to abate the alleged illegal activity as required under NRS 201.395(3)(c). As such, all of the events at issue have already occurred. LVMPD sent its notices in January and March, 2022, and Appellants provided their respective written responses immediately thereafter. LVMPD then executed the search warrants on April 5, 2022 at Appellants' businesses.

For these reasons, there can be no good cause to maintain the search warrants affidavits under seal when unsealing them will in no way impact the investigation of any such events that, even assuming that they did in fact actually occur, did so in the past and where the searches of the subject premises have concluded. To the contrary, in the event the search warrants themselves are not quashed, Appellants must be permitted the opportunity to preserve this issue for briefing pending an opportunity to evaluate the contents of the underlying documents, in recognition that a failure of the necessary showings constitutes "good cause" upon which to order unsealing within the meaning of NRS 179.045(4).

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