### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No.:	84931-COA
	Electronically Filed Nov 18 2022 03:01 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
11	n the Eighth Judicial District Ionorable Jerry A. Wiese II
	Appeal from Court, the H

### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

#### Marquis Aurbach

Nick D. Crosby, Esq. (SBN 8996) Jackie V. Nichols, Esq. (SBN 14246) 10001 Park Run Drive Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 Telephone: (702) 382-0711 Facsimile: (702) 382-5816 ncrosby@maclaw.com jnichols@maclaw.com Attorneys for Respondent Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Honorable Judge Linda Bell now presides over the District Court case.

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

### 1. <u>The Hustler Club.</u>

In January 2022, SIS learned that entertainers had been soliciting for the purpose prostitution within the establishment. AA000072 at  $\P$  9. SIS then advised the Hustler Club that an undercover operation was conducted at their establishment and three females were observed soliciting for the purpose of prostitution. At the

same time, SIS provided Hustler Club with its Advancing Prostitution letter. *Id.* at  $\P$  10. The letter advised Hustler Club it needed to contact SIS, via email, of the steps taken to prevent this illegal activity. A manager signed the letter, and a copy was left with her. *Id.* at  $\P$  11. In March 2022, SIS conducted additional undercover investigations that lead entertainers to solicit an undercover officer for sex. *Id.* at  $\P$  12. Subsequently, SIS advised the Hustler Club of the incident and provided it with another Advancing Prostitution letter. *Id.* at  $\P$  13.

### 2. <u>Little Darlings.</u>

SIS was informed that an individual had been sexually assaulted at Little Darlings sometime in November 2021. AA000073 at ¶ 22. In January, SIS conducted an undercover operation where three entertainers within the establishment were observed soliciting for the purpose of prostitution. *Id.* at ¶ 23. Subsequently, SIS advised Little Darlings of this information and provided it with its Advancing Prostitution letter. *Id.* at ¶ 24. The letter advised they needed to contact SIS, via email, of the steps taken to prevent this illegal activity. *Id.* at ¶ 25. In March 2022, SIS conducted additional undercover investigations that lead entertainers to solicit an undercover officer for sex. *Id.* at ¶ 26. Two of the entertainers were cited for soliciting prostitution and released. *Id.* at ¶ 27. Subsequently, SIS once more advised Little Darlings of the incident and provided it with another Advancing Prostitution letter. The manager at the time advised that

she was aware of the two entertainers being cited and confirmed that the two entertainers were still employed by Little Darlings. *Id.* at  $\P$  28.

# **B. LVMPD PROPERLY OBTAINS AND EXECUTES SEARCH WARRANTS FOR THE ESTABLISHMENTS.**

These documented events demonstrate a pattern within the business of an accepted culture involving prostitution. AA000071-75. Based on SIS's investigation, including its covert operations, there was probable cause to support the crimes of Advancing Prostitution and Living from Earnings of a Prostitute at both the Hustler Club and Little Darlings.<sup>2</sup> Accordingly, SIS obtained search warrants for both establishments. AA 000016-28. Due to the nature of the electronic devices seized, LVMPD obtained an additional search warrant to access the electronically stored information, including to image and copy the devices. AA000077-78; *see also* AA000080-84; 000088-91.

### C. APPELLANTS SEEK TO UNSEAL SEARCH WARRANT APPLICATIONS, QUASH THE WARRANT, AND RETURN OF ITS PROPERTY SO THAT A PRIVILEGE REVIEW COULD BE CONDUCTED.

On April 12, 2022, Appellants' sought relief from the District Court pursuant to NRS 179.085 related to the search warrants that were executed on April 5, 2022. AA000001-49. First, Appellants argued that the search warrants were legally deficient under NRS 179.085 in that there was no probable cause to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Search Warrant Applications and Affidavits provided to this Court in camera.

justify the seizure of property. AA000007-8. In turn, the lack of probable cause required the District Court to unseal the search warrant applications and affidavits and quash the warrants. *Id.* Likewise, Appellants contended that the lack of probable cause required the return of its property. *Id.* Notably, Appellants recognized that without the unsealing of the applications and affidavits, it was unable to demonstrate the lack of probable cause. *Id.* 

In the alternative, Appellants claimed that certain property contained privileged material, including attorney-client and work-product privileged material. AA000008-11. As such, Appellants urged the District Court to enjoin LVMPD from conducting a search of any property until Appellants could scrub the seized property of all privileged material. *Id.* Notably, Little Darlings failed to identify any specific property that contained privileged material. AA000097-128. The Hustler Club only identified an Apple Laptop (retrieved from a separate suit within the Hustler Club, belonging to Go Best), an Apple Macbook Laptop owned by Ralph James, and the personal cell-phone of Andrea Woods. *Id.* 

# D. LVMPD IMAGED THE PROPERTY, AND ITS CRIMINAL INVESTIGATIONS CONTINUED.

The subsequent warrants expressly permitted LVMPD, through its Digital Forensic Lab (DFL), to examine and image and copy the electronic devices as part of its search. AA000077-78; *see also* AA000080-84; 000088-91. At the time of the Appellants' filing, DFL had imaged the following property from the Hustler Club:

- White Apple Phone with clear case
- Black iPhone w/ black case
- Blue iPhone w/ clear case
- Black iPhone w/ pink case
- iPad S/N GG8WQ3S3JF8J
- iPad S/N DMPRLA6MH1MK

AA000093-96. Likewise, the following property had been imaged from Little

Darlings:

- HP Prop, desktop computer
- Dell OptiPlex 3060 desktop computer
- HP Pro desktop computer
- Black Cell Phone
- Black Apple iPhone
- (3) Lexar 64 GB thumb drives
- (1) SanDisk 32GB thumb drive
- (7) Unknown make thumb drives
- (1) Microsoft thumb drives

*Id.* While these items had been imaged, DFL was still processing the images. *Id.* DFL articulated that retention of the property was necessary until DFL could confirm that the imaging was successful. *Id.* DFL further explained that the return of the original devices, prior to confirming the successful imaging of the same, could result in a loss of evidence. *Id.* 

DFL also possessed three HIKVision DVR Systems from the Hustler Club, which were estimated to contain around 54 TB of data. *Id.* There were also five HIKVision DVR Systems, which were estimated to contain around 120 TB of data in DFL's possession. *Id.* To process this data, DFL needed to purchase additional equipment, including additional hard drives. No action could be taken regarding the DVR systems until DFL received this equipment. *Id*.

### E. LVMPD PROPOSED A SEARCH PROTOCOL.

With respect to the concern of privileged information, LVMPD proposed a search protocol. Previously, DFL had been provided a list of full names, email addresses, and/or phone numbers that would be considered privileged. *Id.* DFL utilized software that can search for these keywords. *Id.* After the search is completed, DFL would review the keyword hits for the provided information. Items relates to those keywords will be redacted. *Id.* The software system then generates a report for the investigative detectives, in this case the Special Investigations Section, to review. *Id.* The investigative detectives would not be privy to the redacted, privileged information. *Id.* Only DFL would see the full extraction of the electronic devices. *Id.* DFL does not participate in the investigation of any alleged criminal acts but merely facilitates the process to allow the detectives to search electronic devices. *Id.* 

# F. THE DISTRICT COURT'S ORDER DENYING APPELLANTS' REQUESTED RELIEF.

On May 22, 2022, the District Court issued its decision on Appellants' requested relief. AA000147-160. First, after reviewing the search warrant applications and affidavits *in camera*, the District Court correctly determined that there was no good cause to unseal the search warrant materials. AA000157.

Specifically, the District Court found that search warrant affidavits and applications included police procedures and intelligence obtained during LVMPD's investigations. *Id.* And, knowledge of this sensitive information may compromise LVMPD's ability to further investigate the crimes alleged to have been committed, and any ongoing crimes allegedly being committed, relating to this investigation. *Id.* The District Court further reasoned that disclosure of the search warrant applications and affidavits may endanger the detectives involved and compromise the identity of various undercover detectives. *Id.* 

Addressing Appellants' request for return of property, the District Court found that probable cause existed for the issuance of the search warrants and that the property seized was not improperly seized. *Id.* In that respect, the District Court rejected Appellants' contention that there was insufficient evidence of prostitution to support the crimes alleged. AA000158. In finding that probable cause existed, the District Court reasoned that the evidence submitted in support of the warrants (i.e., the applications and affidavits) demonstrated that there was probable cause to believe that the crimes of "Advancing Prostitution" and "Living from Earning of Prostitution" were being committed. Id. As a result, the District Court further held that the property was legally seized with a warrant, and the warrants appeared to be valid and sufficient on their face. AA000157. Additionally, the District Court ruled retention that of the seized property under was not unreasonable

Page 12 of 39

NRS 179.085(1)(e) because of LVMPD's ongoing investigation. *Id*. The District Court also noted that return of the property so that Appellants could conduct a "privilege review" was not warranted given that LVMPD had expressly agreed to enact a protocol to extract all alleged privileged material prior to providing the fruits of the search to the detectives. *Id*.

# G. LVMPD RETURNED APPELLANTS' PROPERTY THAT IS SUBJECT TO THE APPEAL.

After the District Court denied Appellants' their requested relief, Appellants sought to stay enforcement of the District Court's order pending this appeal. Respondent's Appendix (RA) 001-6. While the District Court denied the request for a stay, it did order the return of property that LVMPD had imaged and was not necessary: (1) to retain for the purpose of the criminal investigation or (2) for purposes of conducting the privilege redaction protocol. *Id.* LVMPD returned the requested computers, tablets, and phones that were subject to the Appellants' motion.<sup>3</sup> RA 007-21.

### V. <u>LEGALARGUMENT</u>

### A. THE APPEAL IS MOOT BECAUSE LVMPD RETURNED THE PROPERTY SUBJECT TO APPELLANTS' REQUEST.

"[T]he duty of every judicial tribunal is to decide actual controversies by a judgment which can be carried into effect, and not to give opinions upon moot

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> LVMPD has not returned the Apple Laptop retrieved from the Go Best Suit as that Laptop is also subject to a separate appeal as a result of conflicting declarations. *See* Court of Appeals Case No. 85082.

questions or abstract propositions, or to declare principles of law which cannot affect the matter in issue before it." *Nat'l Collegiate Athletic Ass'n v. Univ. of Nev., Reno*, 97 Nev. 56, 57, 624 P.2d 10, 10 (1981). "[A] controversy must be present through all stages of the proceeding, and even though a case may present a live controversy at its beginning, subsequent events may render the case moot." *Personhood Nev. v. Bristol*, 126 Nev. 599, 602, 245 P.3d 572, 574 (2010). (internal citations omitted).

A moot case may be justiciable "where an issue is capable of repetition, yet will evade review because of the nature of its timing." *In re Guardianship of L.S.* & *H.S.*, 120 Nev. 157, 161, 87 P.3d 521, 524 (2004). The capable-of-repetition yet-evading-review exception applies "only in exceptional situations" where "[t]he challenged action must be too short in its duration to be fully litigated prior to its natural expiration, and a reasonable expectation must exist that the same complaining party will suffer the harm again." *Id.* For the exception to apply, the moot issue must also involve "a matter of widespread importance[.]" *Personhood Nev.*, 126 Nev. at 602, 245 P.3d at 574. The usefulness of the exception is evidenced in situations where "in the absence of such a rule, an important question of law could never be decided because of the nature of its timing." *State v. Washoe Cnty. Pub. Def.*, 105 Nev. 299, 301, 775 P.2d 217, 218 (1989). In other words, the exception's application turns on whether the issue cannot be litigated before it

Page 14 of 39

MAC:14687-016 4870160\_1.docx

becomes moot. *See, e.g., Globe Newspaper Co. v. Superior Court*, 457 U.S. 596, 602-03 (1982) (explaining that an order excluding the public from attending a criminal rape trial during a victim's testimony that expired at the conclusion of the trial is capable of repetition, yet evading review); *Neb. Press Ass'n v. Stuart*, 427 U.S, 539, 546-47 (1976) (describing how an order prohibiting the press from broadcasting prejudicial confessions before trial that expires once the jury is empaneled is capable of repetition, yet evading review); *In re Guardianship*, 120 Nev. at 161-62, 87 P.3d at 524 (discussing types of issues that are both likely to expire prior to full litigation and are thus capable of repetition, yet evading review).

While not directly on point, this Court's decision in a public records case regarding mootness is instructive. *See Las Vegas Review-Journal v. City of Henderson*, 441 P.3d 546 (May 24, 2019) (unpublished disposition). There, LVRJ made a request for various records from the City of Henderson. *Id.* at \*1. The City of Henderson informed LVRJ that a search generated a large universe of records and that a review for privilege and confidentiality would be required before copies of the records could be provided. *Id.* The City of Henderson also asserted it was entitled to charge for the privilege review. *Id.* LVRJ proceeded to file a petition with the court for access to the records. *Id.* During the pendency of the litigation, the City of Henderson agreed to provide copies of the records free of charge, other

Page 15 of 39

than the records contained in the privilege log. *Id.* The district court ultimately denied LVRJ's petition because the City of Henderson provided the records free of charge. *Id.* The Supreme Court affirmed. *Id.* 

The Supreme Court concluded that the fee issue became moot once the records were provided free of charge. In support of its decision, the Supreme Court ruled that "so long as the *records* in a public records request *are not produced*, *the controversy remains ongoing* and can be litigated." *Id.* at \*2 (emphasis added). The Supreme Court also reasoned that because NRS 239.011 already provides for expedited review of public records request denials, LVRJ's claim need not rely on such a rarely used exception. *Id.* (citing *Personhood Nev.*, 26 Nev. at 603, 245 P.3d at 575 (observing that a statute expediting challenges to ballot initiatives generally provides for judicial review before a case becomes moot).

Relying on the reasoning in *Las Vegas Review-Journal v. City of Henderson*, so long as LVMPD retains the property, the controversy remains ongoing and can be litigated. Conversely, when the property is returned, there is no live controversy. And, similar to NRS 239.011, this Court, in *Maiola*, inherently recognized that the purpose and intent of NRS 179.085 was to provide an expeditious method of returning property by motion. *Maiola v. State*, 120 Nev. 671, 678, 99 P.3d 227, 231 (2004). Thus, the expeditious method provided in NRS 179.085 generally ensures judicial review is available before a case becomes moot. Thus, the exception has no application to matters brought under NRS 179.085.

Here, LVMPD returned the computers, laptops, and phones, with the exception of the laptop taken from the Go Best Suite, to Appellants. These are the items that Appellants asserted expressly contain privileged materials. Appellants do not contend that LVMPD still possesses property that contains privileged material. Accordingly, the Appellants appeal related to the return of property based on the fact that such property contains privileged information is now moot as LVMPD returned the property.

### B. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED CONTINUED SEALING OF THE APPLICATIONS AND AFFIDAVITS WAS WARRANTED.

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